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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

The Honorable Mayor and 
City Council 
City of Olive Hill 
Olive Hill, Kentucky 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Olive Hill, 
Kentucky (the City) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2021, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements as listed in the table of 
contents. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal 
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinions. 

Cincinnati, OH 
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Opinions 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, 
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Olive Hill, Kentucky as of June 30, 2021, and 
the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof, and the respective 
budgetary comparison for the General Fund, and the Special Revenue Fund - Municipal Road Aid for the 
year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. 

Other Matters 

Required Supplemental Information 

Management has omitted the Management's Discussion and Analysis that accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America require to be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements. Such missing information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by 
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting 
for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. Our 
opinion on the basic financial statements is not affected by this missing information. 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Schedule of City's 
Proportionate Share of the Net Pension and OPEB Liability and the Schedule of Pension and OPEB 
Contributions on pages 38 through 44 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such 
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the 
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied 
certain limited procedures to the required supplemental information in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit 
of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information 
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide 
any assurance. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 5, 
2025, on our consideration of the City of Olive Hill, Kentucky's internal control over financial reporting 
and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant 
agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of 
internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing and not to provide an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That 
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 
considering the City's internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

!~-31~ Jx.dj, Jj~ /'sL 
December 5, 2025 
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CITY OF OLIVE HILL, KENTUCKY 
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

JUNE 30, 2021 

Governmental 
Activities 

ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 28,306 
Accounts receivable: 

Unbilled receivables 
Customers 
Property taxes 63,067 
Other 199,202 

Allowance for doubtful accounts (60,347) 
Interfund receivable (payable) 34,274 
Inventory for supplies 
Investments - certificates of deposit 
Restricted assets -

Cash - bond issuance 
Nondepreciable capital assets 654,465 
Depreciable capital assets 3,896,920 
Accumulated depreciation (2,404,906) 

Total assets 2,410,981 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
Deferred outflows - OPEB related - nonhazardous 115,407 
Deferred outflows - pension related - nonhazardous 146,840 
Deferred outflows - OPEB related - hazardous 11,802 
Deferred outflows - pension related - hazardous 37,265 

Total deferred outflows ofresources 311,314 

LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable 55,299 
Accrued wages 17,003 
Other accrued liabilities 15,979 
Current portion oflong-terrn debt 54,600 
Customer deposits 
Accrued interest payable 8,569 
Compensated absences, long-term 6,089 
Net OPEB liability - nonhazardous 242,154 
Net pension liability - nonhazardous 769,334 
Long-term debt, net of current portion (net of discounts) 392,359 

Total liabilities 1,561,386 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
Deferred inflows - OPEB related - nonhazardous 40,923 
Deferred inflows - pension related - nonhazardous 

Total deferred inflows of resources 40,923 

NET POSITION 
Net investment in capital assets 1,699,520 
Restricted 
Unrestricted (579,5342 

Total net position $ 1,119,986 

The accompanying notes to financial statements 
are an integral part of this statement. 
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Business-Type 
Activities Total 

$ 520,727 $ 549,033 

118,907 118,907 
626,537 626,537 

63,067 
199,202 

(97,913) (158,260) 
(34,274) 
175,528 175,528 
146,858 146,858 

6,412,648 6,412,648 
3,871,892 4,526,357 

22,815,956 26,712,876 
(12,252,826) (14,657,732) 

22,304,040 24,715,021 

357,505 472,912 
454,879 601,719 

11,802 
37,265 

812,384 1,123,698 

243,924 299,223 
27,170 44,173 
3,280 19,259 

188,085 242,685 
239,239 239,239 
28,996 37,565 
29,388 35,477 

750,141 992,295 
2,383,232 3,152,566 

11,857,064 12,249,423 

15,750,519 17,311,905 

126,772 167,695 

126,772 167,695 

8,802,521 10,502,041 

(1,563,388) (2,142,922) 

$ 7,239,133 $ 8,359,119 



Functions/Programs 
Governmental Activities 
General government 
Fire 
Police 
Highways and streets 
Recreation 
Library 
Senior center 
Interest on debt 
Total governmental activities 

Business-Type Activities 
Ublityfwid 
Total business-type activities 

Total primary government 

Expenses 

$ 269,782 

291,988 
444,353 

320,625 
46,331 
25,000 
12,817 
10,154 

1,421 ,050 

6,056,146 
6,056,146 

$ 7,477,196 

CllY OF OLIVE HILL, KENTIJCKY 
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 

Pro~ Revenues 
Operating Capjtal 

Charges for Grants and Gran1sand 
Services Contributions Contributions 

$ $ 212,219 $ 

20,000 
65,609 

51,881 

349,709 

4,711,234 8,890 
4,711,234 8,890 

$ 4,711,234 $ 349,709 $ 8,890 

General Revenues: 
Property and other local taxes 
Occupational licenses 
Franchise fees 
Rent income 
Licenses, fees and pennits 
Alcohol fees 
Coal and mine severance 
Other revenues 
Gain on sale of assets 
Interest income 
Total general revenues 

Transfers 

Total general revenues and transfers 

Change in net position 

Net position, June 30, 2020 

Net position, June 30, 2021 

The accompanying notes to financial statements 
are an integral part of this statement 
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Net (Expense) Revenue and 
Chaoses in Net Position 

Governmental Business-Type 
Activities Activities Total 

$ (57,563) $ $ (57,563) 

(271,988) (271,988) 

(378,744) (378,744) 

(268,744) (268,744) 

(46,331) (46,331) 

(25,000) (25,000) 

(12,817) (12,817) 

(10,154) (10,154) 

(1,071,341) (1,071,341) 

(1 ,336,022) (1,336,022) 

(1,336,022) (1,336,022) 

(1,071,341) (1,336,022) (2,407,363) 

338,407 338,407 

306,793 306,793 

57,792 57,792 

76,940 76,940 

8,196 8,196 

138,333 138,333 

9,692 9,692 

27,003 27,003 

105,000 105,000 

1 132 2,015 3,147 

1,069,288 2,015 1,071,303 

(47,592) 47 592 

1,021 696 49607 1.071 ,303 

(49,645) (1,286,415) (1,336,060) 

1,169,631 8,525,548 9 695,179 

$ 1,119,986 s 7,2391133 s 8,359,119 
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CITY OF OLIVE HILL, KENTUCKY 
BALANCE SHEET 

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
JUNE 30, 2021 

Municipal 
General Road Aid 

Assets 
Cash $ 22,082 $ 6,224 
Taxes receivable 63,067 
Allowance for doubtful accounts (60,347) 
Interfund receivable 34,274 
Other receivables 163,501 22,415 

Total assets $ 222,577 $ 28,639 

Liabilities and Fund Balances 
Liabilities: 
Accounts payable $ 55,299 $ 
Accrued wages 17,003 
Accrued interest payable 8,569 
Other accrued liabilities 15,979 

Total liabilities 96,850 

Fund Balances: 
Nonspendable 
Assigned 28,639 
Unassigned 125,727 

Total fund balances 125,727 28,639 

Total liabilities and fund balances $ 222,577 $ 28,639 

The accompanying notes to financial statements 
are an integral part of this statement. 
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Total 
Governmental 

Funds 

$ 28,306 
63,067 

(60,347) 
34,274 

185,916 

$ 251,216 

$ 55,299 
17,003 
8,569 

15,979 

96,850 

28,639 
125,727 

154,366 

$ 251,216 
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CITY OF OLIVE HILL, KENTUCKY 
RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 
JUNE 30, 2021 

Total fund balance - Governmental Funds 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position 
are different because: 

Capital assets of$4,551,385 net ofaccumulated depreciation of$2,404,906 
used in governmental activities are not financial resources and therefore 
are not reported in the governmental funds. 

Pole rental funds were not collected within the current period and therefore 
are not reported in the governmental funds. 

Deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions are 
applicable to future periods and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. 

Deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to OPEB are 
applicable to future periods and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. 

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the 
current period and therefore are not reported in the governmental funds. 

Net OPEB liabilities 
Net pension liabilities 
Long-term debt 
Compensated absences 

Net position, end of year - Governmental Activities 

The accompanying notes to financial statement 
are an integral part of this statement. 
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$ 

$ 

154,366 

2,146,479 

13,286 

184,105 

86,286 

(242,154) 
(769,334) 
(446,959) 

(6,089) 

l,II9,986 
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CITY OF OLIVE HILL, KENTUCKY 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 

General 
Revenues 
Taxes: 
Insurance $ 227,363 $ 
Property 111,044 

Occupational licenses 306,793 
Franchise fees 57,792 
Alcohol fees 138,333 
Intergovernmental revenue: 
Base court 4,990 
KLEPF 30,497 
FADE 35,112 
State fire aid 20,000 
Grants 207,229 

License, fees, & pennits 8,196 
Municipal road aid 
Coal and mine severance 9,692 
Pole rental 1,825 
Rent income 61,829 
Interest income 1,053 
Other revenues 27,003 
Total revenues 1,248,751 

Expenditures 
General government 174,739 
Fire 196,231 
Police 641,636 
Highways and streets 125,403 
Recreation 33,412 
Library 25,000 
Debt service 131,815 
Capital outlay 235,287 
Total expenditures 1,563,523 

Excess (deficiency) ofrevenues over (under) 
expenditures (314,772) 

Other Financing Sources 
Loan proceeds 100,000 
Proceeds from the sale of assets 105,000 
Transfer to Utility Fund (47,592) 
Total other financing sources 157,408 

Net change in fund balances (157,364) 

Fund balances, beginning of year 283,091 

Fund balances, end of year $ 125,727 $ 

The accompanying notes to financial statements 
are an integral part of this statement. 
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Total 
Municipal Governmental 
Road Aid Funds 

$ 227,363 
111,044 
306,793 
57,792 

138,333 

4,990 
30,497 
35,112 
20,000 

207,229 
8,196 

51,881 51,881 

9,692 
1,825 

61,829 

79 1,132 
27,003 

51,960 1,300,711 

174,739 
196,231 
641,636 

179,010 304,413 
33,412 
25,000 

131,815 
235,287 

179,010 1,742,533 

(127,050) (441,822) 

100,000 
105,000 
(47,592) 
157,408 

(127,050) (284,414) 

155,689 438,780 

28,639 $ 154,366 
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CITY OF OLIVE HILL, KENTUCKY 
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES 

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 

Net change in fund balances - Governmental Funds 

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the 
Statement of Activities the cost of these assets are allocated over their 
estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. This is the 
amount by which capital outlays was less than depreciation expense in the 
current period. 

Capital outlay 
Depreciation expense 

Governmental funds report CERS contributions as expenditures when paid. 
However, in the Statement of Activities, pension expense is the cost of benefits 
earned, adjusted for member contributions, the recognition of changes in 
deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions or OPEB, 
and investment experience. 

CERS expense - pension 
CERS contributions - pension 
CERS expense - OPEB 
CERS contributions - OPEB 

Pole rental funds were not collected within the current period and therefore are 
not reported in governmental funds in the current period. 
However, these funds were recorded in the statement of activities. 

The issuance of long-term debt provides current financial resources to 
governmental funds, while repayment of the principal and interest consumes 
current financial resources of governmental funds. 

Bond and capital lease proceeds 
Bond and capital lease payments 
Change in compensated absences 

Change in net position of Governmental Activities 

The accompanying notes to financial statements 

are an integral part of this statement. 
-9-

234,186 
(208,813) 

(100,000) 
121,661 

9,493 

$ 

$ 

(284,414) 

25,373 

88,469 
34,623 
30,713 
11,151 

13,286 

31,154 

(49,645) 
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CJTY OF OLIVE HILL, KENTUCKY 
ST A TEMENT OF NET POSITION 

PROPRIETARY FUNDS 

ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Accounts receivable: 
Unbilled receivables 
Customers 

Allowance for doubtful acc.o.unts .. 
Inventory for supplies 
Investments - certificates of deposit 
Restricted assets -

Cash - bond issuance 
Nondepreciable capital assets 
Depreciable capital assets 
Accumulated depreciation 

Total assets 

JUNE 30, 2021 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
Deferred outflows - OPEB related - nonhazardous 
Deferred outflows - pension related - nonhazardous 

Total deferred outflows of resources 

LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable 
Accrued wages 
Other accrued liabilities 
Current portion oflong-term debt 
Customer deposits 
Accrued interest payable 
Compensated absences 
Interfund payable 
Net OPEB liability - nonhazardous 
Net pension liability - nonhazardous 
Long-term debt, net of current portion (net of discounts) 

Total liabilities 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
Deferred inflows - OPEB related - nonhazardous 
Deferred inflows - pension related - nonhazardous 

Total deferred inflows of resources 

NET POSITION 
Net investment in capital assets 
Restricted 
Unrestricted 

Total net position 

$ 

$ 

The accompanying notes to financial statements 
are an integral part of this statement. 
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Utility 
Fund 

520,727 

118,907 
626,537 
(97,913) 
175,528 
146,858 

6,412,648 
3,871,892 

22,815,956 
(12,252,826) 

22,338,314 

357,505 
454,879 
812,384 

243,924 
27,170 
3,280 

188,085 
239,239 
28,996 
29,388 
34,274 

750,141 
2,383,232 

11,857,064 

15,784,793 

126,772 

126,772 

8,802,521 

(1,563,388) 

7,239,133 



CITY OF OLIVE HILL, KENTUCKY 
STATEMENT OF REVENUE, EXPENSES 

AND CHANGE·s IN NET POSITION (CONTINUED) 
PROPRIETARY FUNDS 

OPERATING REVENUES 
Electric 
Water 
Gas 
Sewer 
Sanitation 
Total operating revenues 

OPERATING EXPENSES 
Electric: 

Electric purchases 
Salaries and benefits 
Contractual services 
Depreciation 
Materials and supplies 
Other operating expenses 

Water: 
Water purchases 
Salaries and benefits 
Contractual services 
Depreciation 
Materials and supplies 
Other operating expenses 

Gas: 
Gas purchases 
Salaries and benefits 
Contractual services 
Depreciation 
Materials and supplies 
Other operating expenses 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 
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$ 

Utility 
Fund 

2,621,064 
1,113,278 

466,717 
292,128 
218,047 

4,711,234 

1,976,913 
733,773 

98,670 
59,501 

103,536 
33,568 

3,005,961 

48,619 
566,435 
257,625 
282,827 
181,392 
56,002 

1,392,900 

124,786 
134,169 
41,125 
55,499 
53,731 
6,880 

416,190 



CITY OF OLIVE HILL, KENTUCKY 
STATEMENT OF REVENUE, EXPENSES 

AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION (CONCLUDED) 
PROPRIETARY FUNDS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 

Sewer: 
Salaries and benefits 
Contractual services 
Depreciation 
Materials and supplies 
Other operating expenses 

Sanitation: 
Salaries and benefits 
Contractual services 
Depreciation 
Materials and supplies 

Total operating expenses 

OPERATING LOSS 

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES) 
Interest expense 
Amortization expense 
Interest income 
Capital grant revenues 
Transfer from General Fund 

Total non-operating revenues (expenses) 

LOSS BEFORE CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS 

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS - TAP FEES 

DECREASE IN NET POSITION 

NET POSITION, JUNE 30, 2020 

NET POSITION, JUNE 30, 2021 

The accompanying notes to financial statements 
are an integral part of this statement. 
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284,650 
104,900 
120,708 
62,399 

4,236 
576,893 

205,936 
94,875 

7,019 
23,134 

330,964 

5,722,908 

(1,011,674) 

(328,515) 
(4,723) 
2,015 

47,592 
(283,631) 

{1,295,305) 

8,890 

(1,286,415) 

8,525,548 

$ 7,239,133 



,..... 

CITY OF OLIVE HILL, KENTUCKY 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

PROPRIETARY FUNDS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERA TING ACTIVITIES 
Cash received from customers 
Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services 
Cash payments to employees 
Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities 

CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Transfers from other funds 
Net cash provided by (used for) non-capital financing activities 

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL 
AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Acquisition and construction of capital assets 
Capital contributions 
Capital grant revenues 
Issuance of debt 
Principal paid on long-term debt 
Interest paid on long-term debt 
Net cash provided by (used for) capital and related 
financing activities 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Interest income 
Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents, June 30, 2020 

Cash and cash equivalents, June 30, 2021 

The following provides a reconciliation of cash and restricted cash reported within the 
Statement ofNet Position - Proprietary Funds that sum to the total of the same amounts 
shown in the Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Investments - certificates of deposit 
Restricted assets -

Cash - bond issuance 

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 
TO NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED FOR) OPERA TING ACTIVITIES 

Operating income (loss) 
Adjustments: 
Depreciation 
Net pension and OPEB adjustment 
Changes in assets and liabilities: 
Change in accounts receivable 
Change in inventory 
Change in accounts payable 
Change in accrued wages 
Change in other accrued liabilities 
Change in compensated absences 
Change in interfund payable 
Change in customer deposits 

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities 

The accompanying notes to financial statements 
are an integral part of this statement. 
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$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Utility 
Fund 

4,723,927 
(2,999,006) 
(1,369,380) 

355,541 

47,592 
47,592 

(294,948) 
8,890 

6,630 
(192,688) 
(328,515) 

(800,631) 

2,015 
2,015 

(395,483) 

7,475,716 

7,080,233 

520,727 
146,858 

6,412,648 
7,080,233 

(l,011,674) 

525,554 
570,549 

(2,027) 
44,717 

194,394 
6,559 

(14,883) 
(6,642) 
34,274 
14,720 

355,541 
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CITY OF OLIVE HILL, KENTUCKY 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 

Revenues 
Taxes 
Intergovernmental revenues 
License, fees, & pel'mits 
Rent income 
Interest income 
Other revenues 

Total revenues 

Expenditures 
General government 
Fire 
Police 
Highways and streets 
Library 
Capital outlay 
Debt service 
Recreation 

Total expenditures 

Excess (deficiency) ofrevenues over (under) 
expenditures 

Other Financing Sources 
Loan Proceeds 
Proceeds from the sale of assets 
Transfers 

Total other financing sources 

Net change in fund balances 

Fund balance, beginning of year 

Fund balance, end of year 

IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 
GENERAL FUND 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 

Original Revised 
Budget Revisions Budget 

$ 764,001 $ 29,774 $ 793,775 
50,000 50,000 

1,502 2,023 3,525 
78,360 (2,860) 75,500 

700 (100) 600 
82,450 340,650 423,100 

977,013 369,487 1,346,500 

170,865 111,678 282,543 
141,150 104,530 245,680 
570,129 106,762 676,891 
91,339 37,296 128,635 
25,000 25,000 

20,319 9,221 29,540 

1,018,802 369,487 1,388,289 

(41,789) (41,789) 

(41,789) (41,789) 

41,789 41,789 

$ $ $ 

The accompanying notes to financial statements 
are an integral part of this statement. 
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Variance 
Positive 

Actual (Negative) 

$ 841,325 $ 47,550 
297,828 247,828 

8,196 4,671 
63,654 (11,846) 

1,053 453 
36,695 (386,405) 

1,248,751 (97,749) 

174,739 107,804 
196,231 49,449 
641,636 35,255 
125,403 3,232 
25,000 

235,287 (235,287) 
131,815 (131,815) 
33,412 (3,872) 

1,563,523 (175,234) 

(314,772) (272,983) 

100,000 100,000 
105,000 105,000 
(47,592) (47,592) 

157,408 157,408 

(157,364) (115,575) 

283,091 241,302 

$ 125,727 $ 125,727 



CITY OF OLIVE HILL, KENTUCKY 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 

IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 
SPECIAL REVENUE FUND - MUNICIPAL ROAD AID 

Revenues 
Municipal road aid 
Other revenues 

Total revenues 

Expenditures 
Highways and streets 
Other expenditures 

Total expenditures 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over (under) expenditures 

Other financing sources (uses) 
Transfers 

Total other financing sources (uses) 

Net change in fund balance 

Fund balance, beginning ofyear 

Fund balance, end of year 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 

Original Revised 
Budget Revisions Budget 

$ 32,000 $ 7,000 $ 39,000 

32,000 7,000 39,000 

187,689 7,000 194,689 

187,689 7,000 194,689 

(155,689) (155,689) 

(155,689) (155,689) 

155,689 155,689 

$ $ $ 

The accompanying notes to financial statements 
are an integral part of this statement. 
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Actual 

$ 51,881 
79 

51,960 

179,010 

179,010 

(127,050) 

(127,050) 

155,689 

$ 28,639 

Variance 
Positive 

(Negative) 

$ 12,881 
79 

12,960 

15,679 

15,679 

28,639 

28,639 

$ 28,639 



CITY OF OLIVE HILL, KENTUCKY 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2021 

(1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

A. Reporting Entity 

The City of Olive Hill (the "City") is a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of 
Kentucky. It is governed and operated under the Mayor/Council fonn of government and 
provides such services as public safety (police and fire), public works (street and sanitation), 
recreation, and utilities (water, sewer, electric, and gas). The financial statements of the City 
include those of separately administered organizations that are controlled by or dependent 
upon the City. Control or dependence is detennined on the basis of funding and appointment 
of the voting majority of the governing board. Based upon these criteria, the City has no 
component units to be reported in these financial statements. 

B. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net _position and the 
statement of activities) report information on all of the activities of the City. For the most 
part, the effect of interfuncl activity has been removed from these statements. Governmental 
activities, which nonnally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are 
reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees 
and charges for support. 

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given 
function or segment are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly 
identifiable with a specific function or segment. Program revenues include 1) charges to 
customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or 
privileges provided by a given function or sewnent and 2) grants and contributions that are 
restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or 
segment. Taxes and other items not properly includea among program revenues are reported 
instead as general revenues. 

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and proprietary funds. The 
City considers all governmental and proprietary funds to be major funds, due to their belief 
that all of these funds present financial information which is important to the financial 
statement users. Thus, individual governmental funds and individual proprietary funds are 
reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. 

C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund financial 
statements. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability 
is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as 
revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as 
revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized 
as soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available 
when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities 
of the current J?eriod. For this purpose, the City considers revenues to be available if they are 
collected withm 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures generally are 
recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt service 
expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and 
judgments, are recorded only when payment is due. 
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Property taxes, franchise taxes, grants, and interest associated with the current fiscal period 
are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the 
current fiscal period. All other revenue items are considered to be measurable and available 
only when cash is received by the government. 

The City reports the following major Governmental Funds: 

General Fund-The General Fund is the general operating fund of the City. It is used to account 
for all financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 

Special Revenue Funds - Special Revenue Funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific 
revenue sources ( other than expendable trusts or major capital _projects) that are legally restricted 
to expenditures for specified purposes. The City has one special revenue fund: Mumcipal Road 
Aid. 

The City reports the following major Proprietary Fund: 

Utility Fund - The Utility Fund is used to account for gas, water, wastewater (sewer), electric, 
and garbage services for the City and surrounding communities. 

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government­
wide financial statements. Exceptions to this general rule are charses between the City Utility 
Fund and various other functions of the government. Elimination of these charges would 
distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the various functions concerned. 

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. 
Operating revenues and expenses ~enerally result from .providing services and producing and 
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund s principal ongoing operations. The 
principal operating revenue of the City s Enterpnse Funds are charges to customers for sales 
and services. Operating expenses for Enterprise Funds include the cost of sales and services, 
administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not 
meeting this definition are reported as nonoperatmg revenues and expenses. 

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City's policy to 
use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 

D. Budget and Budgetary Accounting 

The City follows the procedures established by the Department for Local Government pursuant 
to Section 91A.050 of the Kentucky Revised Statutes in establishing budgetary data. The budget 
was amended during the year ended June 30, 2021 subsequent to original adoption. 

Budgetary Basis of Accounting: The City's budgetary process accounts for certain 
transactions on a basis other than Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). The 
major difference between the budgetary basis and the GAAP basis is that the sanitation 
department is budgeted in the General Fund; however, GAAP requires that it be presented as 
a proprietary fund. In addition, financed insurance premiums are netted in the budget, since 
it is a non-cash item when financed. 

E. Deposits and Investments 

Investments are stated at amortized cost which approximates fair value. Kentucky Revised 
Statute 66.480 permits the City to invest in U.S. Treasury obligations, U.S. Agency obligations, 
certain Federal instruments, repurchase agreements, commercial banks' certificates of deposit, 
savings and loan deposits, Commonwealth of Kentucky investment pool and the Kentucky 
League of Cities investment pool. 
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F. Inventories 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or market. 

G. Capital Assets and Depreciation 

General capital assets are those assets not specifically related to activities reported in the 
proprietary funds. These assets generally result from expenditures in the governmental funds. 
These assets are reported in the governmental activities column of the government-wide 
statement of net position but are not reported in the fund financial statements. Capital assets 
utilized by the proprietary funds are reported both in the business-type activities column of 
the government-wide statement of net position and in the respective funds. 

All capital assets are capitalized at cost ( or estimated historical cost) and updated for additions 
and retirements during the year. Donated fixed assets are recorded at their fair market values 
as of the date receivecl. Improvements are capitalized; the cost of normal maintenance and 
repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend an asset's life are not. 

All reported capital assets are depreciated with the exception of land and construction in 
progress. Improvements are depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the related capital 
assets. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the following useful 
lives for both general capital assets and proprietary fund assets: 

Description 
Gas System 
Water and Sewer Systems 
Equipment & Vehicles 
Buildings and improvements 
Street paving 

Estimated Lives 
40 years 

40-50 years 
3-20 years 

15-50 years 
20 years 

The City is required by GASB 34 to prospectively report general infrastructure assets in the 
statement of net position. 

H. Encumbrances 

The City does not use a system of encumbrances in their accounting and reporting methods. 

I. Interfund Transactions 

During the course of normal operations, the City has numerous transactions between funds 
including expenditures and transfers of resources to provide services, construct assets, and 
service debt. The accompanying financial statements generally reflect such transactions as 
transfers. 

J. Interfund Receivables and Payables 

Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding 
at the end of the fiscal year are referred to as either "due to/from other funds." 

K. Compensated Absences 

The City's accrued liabilities for future compensated absences are recorded to the extent the 
future leaves (1) relate to rights attributable to employee services already rendered, (2) relate to 
rights that vest or accumulate, (3) where payment is probable, and (4) where amounts can be 
reasonably estimated. Amounts that normally would be paid with expendable available financial 
resources are recorded in the Governmental Fund Financial Statements. Amounts paid or 
payable within 60 days are deemed to be payable from expendable available financial resources. 
Liabilities for compensated absences are recorded in full in the Government-wide and 
Proprietary Fund financial statements. 
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L. Fund Balances 

The following classifications describe the relative strength of the spending constraints placed 
on the purposes for which resources can be used: 

• Nonspendable fund balance - amounts that are not in a spendable form (such as inventory) 
or are required to be maintained intact; 

• Restricted fund balance - amounts constrained to specific purposes by their providers 
(such as grantors, bondholders and higher levels of government), through constitutional 
provisions, or by enabling legislation; 

• Committed fund balance - amounts constrained to specific purposes by the City itself, 
using its decision-making authority; to be reported as committed, amounts cannot be used 
for any other purpose unless the City takes the action to remove or change the constraint; 

• Assigned fund balance - amounts the City intends to use for a specific purpose (such as 
encumbrances); intent can be expressed by the City or by an official or body to which the 
City delegates the authority; 

• Unassigned fund balance - amounts that are available for any purpose; unassigned 
amounts are reported only in the General Fund. 

When restricted, committed, assigned and unassigned resources are available for use, it is the 
City's policy to use restricted, committed and assigned resources first, then unassigned resources 
as they are needed. 

M. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

For p!-llJ)OSes of the statements of cash flows, the Proprietary Funds consider all cash and highly 
liqmd mvestments, such as certificates of deposit (including restricted assets) to be cash 
equivalents. 

N. Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 

The allowance for doubtful accounts is estimated using accounts receivable past due more than 
60 days. 

0. Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the recorded 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported revenues and expenditures during the reporting period. 
Material estimates that are particularly susceptible to significant changes relate to the 
determination of the allowance for uncollectible accounts and the useful lives used to depreciate 
capital assets. Actual results could differ from estimated amounts. 

P. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 

In addition to assets, the Statement of Net Position will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of 
resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will 
not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until that time. 

In addition to liabilities, the Statement of Net Position will sometimes report a separate section 
for deferred inflows of resources. This separate fmancial statement element, deferred inflows 
of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that apP.lies to a future period(s) and so 
will not be recognized as an inflow ofresources (revenue) until that time. 
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Q. Pension and Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) 

For purposes of measuring the net pension and OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources, 
and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions and OPEB, and pension and OPEB 
expense, information about the pension and OPEB plan's fiduciary net position and additions 
to/deductions from the plan's fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as 
they are reported by the plan. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee 
contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. 
Investments are reported at fair value. 

R. Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

In February 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities ("GASB 84"). 
GASB 84 establishes criteria for identifying fiduciary activities of all state and local 
governments. Generally, the focus of the criteria relates to (1) whether a government is 
controlling the assets of the fiduciary activity, and (2) the beneficiaries with whom a 
fiduciary relationship exists. Separate criteria are included to identify fiduciary component 
units and post-employment benefit arrangements that are fiduciary activities. Additionally, 
GASB 84 describes four fiduciary funds that should be reported, if applicable: (1) pension 
(and other employee benefit) trust funds, (2) investment trust funds, (3) private-purpose trust 
funds, and ( 4) custodial funds. Custodial funds generally should report fiduciary activities 
that are not held in a trust, or an equivalent arrangement, that meets specific criteria. Finally, 
it provides for recognition of a liability to the beneficiaries in a fiduciary fund when an event 
has occurred that compels the government to disburse fiduciary resources. GASB 84 was 
effective for the City beginning with its year ending June 30, 2021. The adoption of this 
standard did not have a material effect on the City's financial statements. 

In June 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 87, Leases ("GASB 87''), which establishes 
standards of accounting and financial reporting for leases by lessees and lessors. GASB 87 
( 1) increases the usefulness of governments' financial statements by requiring recognition of 
certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating leases 
and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of resources based on the payment 
provisions of the contract; and (2) establishes a single model for lease accounting based on 
the foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. 
Additionally, under GASB 87, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an 
intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and 
a deferred inflow of resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of 
information about governments' leasing activities. GASB 87 will be effective for the City 
beginning with its year ending June 30, 2022 and will be applied retroactively by restating 
financial statements. Management is currently evaluating the impact of this Statement on its 
financial statements. 

In June 2018, the GASB issued Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred 
before the End of a Construction Period ("GASB 89"), which seeks to (1) enhance the 
relevance and comparability of information concerning capital assets and the cost of 
borrowing for a reporting period, and (2) simplify accounting for interest cost incurred during 
the period of construction. In particular, GASB 89 establishes accounting requirements for 
interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period. This Statement requires that 
interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period be recognized as an expense in 
the period in which the cost is incurred for financial statements prepared using the economic 
resources measurement focus, and thus, interest cost incurred before the end of a construction 
period will not be included in the historical cost of a capital asset reported in a business-type 
activity or enterprise fund. GASB 89 will be effective for the City beginning with its year 
ending June 30, 2022. Management is currently evaluating the impact of this Statement on 
its financial statements. 
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In May 2019, the GASB issued Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations ("GASB 91"), 
which aims to provide a single method of reporting conduit debt obligations by issuers and to 
eliminate diversity in practice associated with commitments extended by issuers, arrangements 
associated with conduit debt obligations, and related note disclosures. GASB 91 achieves those 
objectives by (1) clarifying the existing definition of a conduit debt obligation; (2) establishing 
that a conduit debt obligation is not a liability of the issuer; (3) establishing standards for 
accounting and financial reporting of additional commitments and voluntary commitments 
extended by issuers and arrangements associated with conduit debt obligations; and ( 4) 
improving required note disclosures. This Statement addresses arrangements (i.e., often 
characterized as leases) that are associated with conduit debt obligations. In such arrangements, 
( 1) capital assets are constructed or acquired from the proceeds of a conduit debt obligation and 
are used by third-party obligors in the course of their activities; (2) payments from third-party 
obligors are intended to cover and coincide with debt service payments; (3) issuers retain the 
titles to the capital assets, which may or may not pass to the obligors at the end of the 
arrangements, depending upon the circumstances; and (4) issuers should neither report those 
arrangements as leases, nor recognize a liability for the related conduit debt obligations or a 
receivable for the payments related to those arrangements. Additionally, this Statement requires 
issuers to disclose general information concerning their conduit debt obligations, organized by 
type of commitment(s). Issuers that recognize liabilities related to conduit debt obligations also 
should disclose information concerning the amount recognized and the manner in which the 
liabilities changed during the reporting period. GASB 91 is effective for reporting periods 
beginning after December 15, 2021, with earlier application encouraged. Management is 
currently evaluating the impact of this Statement on its financial statements. 

In January 2020, the GASB issued Statement No. 92, Omnibus 2020 ("GASB 92"). GASB 
92 establishes accounting and financial reporting requirements for specific issues related to 
leases, intra-entity transfers of assets, postemployment benefits, government acquisitions, 
risk financing and insurance-related activities of public entity risk pools, fair value 
measurements, and derivative instruments. Provisions related to insurance-related activities 
of public entity risk pools and derivative instruments were effective upon issuance. All other 
provisions will be effective for the City beginning with its year ending June 30, 2022. 
Adoption of the provisions required upon issuance did not have a material effect on the City's 
financial statements. Management is currently evaluating the impact of the remaining 
provisions of this Statement on its financial statements. 

In May 2020, the GASB issued Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information 
Technology Arrangements ("GASB 96''). GASB 96 provides guidance on the accounting 
and financial reporting for subscription-based information technology arrangements 
(SBIT As) for governments. The Statement (1) defines a SBIT A; (2) establishes that a SBIT A 
results in a right-to-use subscription asset, an intangible asset, and a corresponding 
subscription liability; (3) provides the capitalization criteria for outlays other than 
subscription payments, including implementation costs of a SBITA; and (4) requires note 
disclosures regarding a SBITA. To the extent relevant, the standards for SBITAs are based 
on the standards established in Statement No. 87, Leases, as amended. GASB 96 will be 
effective for the City beginning with its year ending June 30, 2023. Management is currently 
evaluating the impact of this Statement on its financial statements. 

In June 2022, the GASB issued Statement No. 100, Accounting Changes and Error 
Corrections (an amendment of GASB Statement No. 62) ("GASB 100"), which has as its 
primary objective to provide more straightforward guidance that is easier to understand and 
is more reliable, relevant, consistent, and comparable across governments for making 
decisions and assessing accountability. Improving the clarity of accounting and financial 
reporting requirements for accounting changes and error corrections will mean greater 
consistency in the application of these requirements in general. 
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GASB 100 prescribes accounting and financial reporting for each category of accounting 
change and error corrections, requiring that: 

• Changes in accounting principle and error corrections be reported retroactively by 
restating prior periods; 

• Changes in accounting estimate be reported prospectively by recognizing the change 
in the current period; and 

• Changes to and within the financial reporting entity be reported by adjusting beginning 
balances of the current period. 

• Requires that governments disclose the effects of each accounting change and error 
correction on beginning balances in a tabular format. 

The requirements of GASB 100 will be effective for accounting changes and error 
corrections made by the City beginning with its year ending June 30, 2024. Management is 
currently evaluating the impact of this Statement on its financial statements. 

In June 2022, the GASB issued Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences ("GASB 10 l "), 
which supersedes the guidance in Statement No. 16, Accounting for Compensated Absences, 
issued in 1992. GASB 101 aligns recognition and measurement guidance for all types of 
compensated absences under a unified model. It also requires that a liability for specific types 
of compensated absences not be recognized until the leave is used. Additionally, it 
establishes guidance for measuring a liability for leave that has not been used, generally 
using an employee's pay rate as of the date of the financial statements. For example, a liability 
for leave that has not been used would be recognized if the leave: 

• Is attributable to services already rendered; 
• Accumulates; and 
• Is more likely than not to be used for time off or otherwise paid or settled. Some 

exceptions to this general rule include parental leave, military leave and jury duty 
leave for which a liability would not be recognized until the leave commences. 

Additionally, GASB 101 (1) provides an alternative to the existing requirement to disclose 
the gross annual increases and decreases in long-term liability for compensated absences, 
allowing governments to disclose only the net annual change in the liability as long as it is 
identified as such; and (2) removes the disclosure of the government funds used to liquidate 
the liability for compensated absences. The requirements of GASB 101 will be effective for 
the City beginning with its year ending June 30, 2025. Management is currently evaluating 
the impact of this Statement on its financial statements. 

(2) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS 

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the City's funds 
on deposit with the banks may not be returned or the City will not be able to recover 
collateral securities in the possession of an outside party. The City's policy requires bank 
balances to be 100% secured by collateral valued at market or par, whichever is lower, less 
the amount of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) insurance. 

Under Kentucky Revised Statute 66.480, the City is allowed to invest in obligations of 
the U.S. Treasury and U.S. agencies, repurchase agreements, obligations of the 
Commonwealth and its agencies, insured savings and loans, or interest-bearing deposits 
of insured national or state banks. The deposits in excess of insurance coverage must be 
fully collateralized. In addition, trust funds may invest in uninsured corporate 
securities. At June 30, 2021, the City had $7,210,732 in financial institutions, of which 
$750,000 was insured, and $6,460,732 was collateralized. 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of 
an investment. Investments held for longer periods are subject to increased risk of adverse 
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(3) 

interest rate changes. The City's investment policy states that unless matched to a specific cash 
flow need, the City's funds should not, in general, be invested in securities maturing more 
than one year from the date of purchase. 

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of the City's 
investment in a single issuer. The City's policy is that with the exception of fully 
insured or fully collateralized investments and demand deposit accounts, no more than 
50% of the total investment portfolio shall be invested in a single security type of a single 
financial institution. 

The City's investments at June 30, 2021 are as follows: 

Fair Interest Maturity 
Tvge of Investments Value Cost Rate Date 
Business-type activities: 
First National Bank of Grayson: 
Certificate of deposit $ 100,000 $ 100,000 0.35% 11/21/22 
Certificate of deposit 46.858 46.858 0.30 11/16/22 

$ 146,858 $ 146,858 

PROPERTY TAX REVENUES 

Property taxes include amounts levied against all real, public utility, and tangible (used in 
business) property located in the City. 

Real property, tangible, and public utility property taxes are levied prior to December 31 of each 
year based upon the assessed value as of January 1. Per KRS 91.487, the lien date for assessed 
taxes is January 1 of each fiscal year. The City imposes penalties of 2% for January and 6% 
thereafter. 

Real property and tangible property taxes are due and payable by December 31 of each year. 
Public utility taxes are due and payable within thirty days from the date the bills are mailed. 
Assessed values are established by State Law at 100% of fair value. 

Real property and tangible property taxes are recognized as revenue on the modified accrual 
basis. Public utility taxes are not accrued at June 30, since assessed amounts are not available 
until the subsequent fiscal year. 

Motor vehicle property taxes are assessed as of January 1 of each year and are collected by the 
County Clerk and remitted to the City. These taxes are not accrued, as amounts are payable upon 
the birth dates of the owners of the vehicles. 

The 2021 fiscal year assessed value for real property was $48,358,480. Assessed value of 
tangible property was $4,923,137. The tax rate adopted was $0.237 per $100 valuation. 

(4) RESTRICTED ASSETS 

2019 A Bond Issuance 

As part of the 2019A Bond Issuance the City has $6,412,648 in restricted cash at June 30, 2021. 
This restricted cash is made up of I) Capitalized Interest Fund - $167,756, 2) Debt Service 
Reserve Fund- $429,731, and 3) Construction Funds - $5,815,161. 
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(5) CAPITAL ASSETS 

A summary of changes in the City's capital assets is as follows: 

June 30, June 30, 
Governmental Activities 2020 Increases Decreases 2021 
Capital Assets, Not Depreciated: 
Land $ 526,337 $ $ $ 526,337 
Construction in progress 102,282 98,128 72,282 128,128 

Capital Assets, Depreciated: 
Buildings 1,183,274 I 10,000 1,293,274 
Street paving and improvement 212,513 212,513 
Vehicles 1,376,304 15,000 1,391,304 
Machinery and equipment 700,564 11,058 711,622 
Improvements 34,583 34,583 
Pool and park equipment 181.342 72,282 253,624 

Totals 4,317,199 306,468 72,282 4,551,385 
Less: Accumulated Depreciation 2,196,093 208,813 2,404,906 

Governmental Activities 
Capital Assets, Net $ 2.1 21.106 $ 97.655 $ 72,282 $ 2 146.479 

Business-{J_•[!_e Activities 
Capital Assets, Not Depreciated: 
Land $ 10,278 $ $ $ 10,278 
Construction in progress 3,861,614 3,861,614 

Capital Assets, Depreciated: 
Buildings 147,931 147,931 
Vehicles 1,012,756 118,130 108,402 1,022,484 
Furniture and equipment 471,405 170,188 8,169 633,424 
Operating plant and distribution system 20,924,584 6,630 20,931,214 
Improvements 80.903 80,903 

Totals 26,509,471 294,948 116,571 26,687,848 
Less: Accumulated Depreciation 11 ,843.843 525,554 116 571 12.252.826 

Business-type Activities 
Capital Assets, Net $ 14,665 628 $ (230,606) S $14 435,022 

Dekreciation expense was allocated to functions/programs of the primary government as 
fol ows: 

Governmental activities: 
General government 
Police 
Fire 
Public works 
Senior center 
Park 

Business-type activities: 
Utilities 

(6) LONG TERM LIABILITIES 

Debt 

$ 

$ 

$ 
$ 

38,210 
47,063 
95,757 

2,047 
12,817 
12.919 

208.813 

525.554 
525.554 

The following is a summary of changes in long-term liabilities (including current portions) of 
the City for the year ended June 30, 2021 : 
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Balance Balance Due within 

Governmental Activities June 30, 2020 Additions Reductions June 30. 2021 One Year 
3.0% Note payable -
Due November 30, 2024, 
Fire equipment $ 17,752 $ $ 10,467 $ 7,285 $ 7,285 

6.85% Note payable -
Due August 30, 2023 
Heavy equipment 55,403 17,040 38,363 17,319 

3.90% Note payable -
Due August 30, 2023 
2, 2020 Police Tahoes 70,465 70,465 

Prime less 0.75% Note payable -
Due November 22, 2034 
Fire Trucks 325,000 21,667 303,333 21,667 

4.00% Note payable -
Due March 5, 2031 
Unsecured 100,000 2,022 97 978 8.329 
Total Governmental 
Activities $ 468,620 $ 100.000 $ 121,661 $ 446.959 $ 54.600 

Balance Balance Due within 
Business-tv12.e Activities June 30. 2020 Additions Reductions June 30, 2021 One Year 
Notes payable $ 1,746,476 $ 6,630 $ 156,021 $ 1,597,085 $ 143,918 

Bonds payable 10,615,000 36,667 10,578,333 44,167 

Less: Discount on bond (134.992) (4,723) {130,269) 

Total Business-type 
Activities $ 12,226.484 $ 6.630 $ 187.965 $ 12,045.149 $ 188.085 

The 2019 A bond issuance was sold at a discount of $140,108. This amount is being amortized over the 
life of the debt. 

Governmental Activities 

The annual requirements to amortize the City's Governmental Activities indebtedness as of June 
30, 2021 (including interest payments) are as follows: 

Year Ending June 30, 
2022 
2023 
2024 
2025 
2026 

2027-2031 
2032-2035 

Business-Type Activities 

Principal 
$ 54,600 

48,339 
33,736 
31,071 
31,460 

161,087 
86,666 

$ 446.959 

Interest 
$ 17,516 

15,394 
13,685 
12,437 
11,143 
36,150 

8.794 
$ 115.119 

The Utility's notes payable at June 30, 2021 consisted of the following: 

The Commercial Bank of Grayson, payable in monthly 
installments of$4,769, including interest of3.75%, 
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Total 
$ 72,116 

63,733 
47,421 
43,508 
42,603 

197,237 
95.460 

$ 562,078 



final payment due March 2023, unsecured. 

U.S. Bank, payable in monthly installments of $2,480, 
including interest of 3. 71 %, final payment due March 2024, 
collateralized by a utility bucket truck. 

Kentucky Infrastructure Authority, payable in semi-annual 
installments with interest of 1.00%, final payment due 
June 2035, collateralized by service revenues. 

Republic Bank & Trust Company, payable in semi-annual 
installments of principal with interest of 3 .3 8%, final payment 
due December 2025, collateralized by service revenues. 

Kentucky Infrastructure Authority construction loan, 
in the amount of $883,000 (not fully drawn at June 30, 2021 ), 
semi-annual installments of$15,285, including interest at 0.25%, 
final payment due December 1, 2049 collateralized 
by service revenues. 

Total Utility Fund Notes Payable 

$ 96,703 

81,826 

315,555 

223,276 

879.725 

$ 1.597.085 

The annual requirements to amortize all Proprietary Fund notes payable including interest are 
listed below. The below schedule excludes revenue bonds payable outstanding and the Kentucky 
Infrastructure Authority note F17-007 in the amount $883,000 ($879,725 drawn as of June 30, 
2021) due to the full amount not being drawn at this time and the amortization schedule not 
being available at this time. 

Year Princigal Interest Total 
2022 $ 143,918 $ 15,214 $ 159,132 
2023 136,922 10,468 147,390 
2024 91,660 7,032 98,692 
2025 69,621 4,898 74,519 
2026 68,602 3,066 71,668 

2027-2031 114,487 7,962 122,449 
2032-2035 92J50 2.168 94 318 

Totals $ 117,360 $ 501808 $ 768,Hi§ 

The following is a summary of the loni-term bond transactions of the City of Olive Hill's 
business-type activities for the year ende June 30, 2021: 

Utility Fund Revenue Bonds 

Bonds Payable - June 30, 2020 
Bonds Issued 
Bonds Retired 
Bonds Payable -June 30, 2021 

$ 10,615,000 

36,667 
$ I 0,518,333 

Bonds Payable included in long-term debt in the accompanying financial statements includes the 
following: 

Revenue Bonds: 
$10,615,000 Utilities Revenue Bonds, 
2019A series, maturing through January 1, 
2049, with interest of 2.50% to 3.25% 

Total Utility Fund Bonds Payable 
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$ 10,518,333 



Pledge of Utility Fund Revenues 

Under the terms of the Ordinance, the Series 2019A Bonds are payable from and secured by a 
first lien ~ledge of revenues and income derived from the ownership, operation, and use of 
services of the Utility's system. 

Compliance with Bond Ordinances 

The bond ordinances contain sign.ificant limitations and restrictions on annual debt reserve 
requirements, maintenance of and flow of monies through various restricted accounts, minimum 
amounts to be maintained in various sinking funds and minimum revenue bond coverage's. 
Funds held in the various reserves at June 30, 2021 required by the revenue bond ordinances are 
reported in the accompanying financial statements as restricted cash and cash equivalents. 

Sinking Fund Requirements 

Sinking Fund requirements are equal to the debt service requirement. The annual requirements 
to amortize all bonds as of June 30, 2021, including interest payments are as follows: 

Year Principal Interest Total 
2022 $ 44,167 $ 324,971 $ 369,138 
2023 52,083 323,867 375,950 
2024 57,083 322,565 379,648 
2025 62.083 321,013 383,096 
2026 77,500 319,150 396,650 

2027-2031 720,000 1,547,488 2,267,488 
2032-2036 1,546,667 1,396,825 2,943,492 
2037-2041 2,692,083 1,094,025 3,786,108 
2042-2046 3,347,917 642,563 3,990,480 
2047-2049 1,978,750 119,532 2.098.282 

Totals $ 10,578.333 $ 6,411.999 $ 16,990.332 

Compensated Absences 

The following is a summary of changes in compensated absences (including current portions) 
of the City for the year ended June 30, 2021: 

Balance Balance Due within 
June 30, 2020 Additions Reductions June 30. 2021 One Year 

Governmental Activities $ 15,582 $ $ 9,493 $ 6,089 $ 

Business-Type Activities 36 030 6.642 29.388 

Total $ 51 ,612 $ 6 35 $ 35,477 $ 

(7) CONTINGENCIES 

The City is a defendant in various legal actions arising from normal business operations. One 
lawsuit relates to an automobile accident in which a City employee allegedly struck another 
motorist while he was driving in the normal course of employment. The second lawsuit alleges 
that the City's contractor unlawfully trespassed upon an individual's property and used it for 
storage and caused damages. 

In addition, the City is a defendant in a class action lawsuit alleging violation of the Kentucky 
Constitution by applying increases to the electric utility rates without public notice. The City's 
insurer has filed an action to determine coverage of this claim. The ultimate outcome of this 
matter cannot be determined at this time. 
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The City intends to aggressively defend all of the lawsuits; however, an adverse decision in one 
or more of such matters could have a material adverse effect on the financial position of the City. 

The City had construction commitments related to the downtown water line project in the amount 
of $132,209 and related to the energy savings project in the amount of $6,845,940 at June 30, 
2021. 

(8) RISK MANAGEMENT 

Significant losses are covered by commercial insurance. There have been no significant 
reductions in insurance coverage. Settlement amounts have not exceeded insurance coverage 
for the current year or the three prior years. 

(9) PENSION PLAN 

County Employees Retirement System 

The City Council voted on October 20, 2020 to begin covering police and fire department full­
time employees/positions as hazardous rather than nonhazardous. The change went into effect 
on January 1, 2021. 

Plan description: Substantially all full-time classified employees of the City participate in the 
County Employees Retirement System ("CERS"). This system consists of two plans -
Nonhazardous and Hazardous. Each plan is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer, defined benefit 
pension plan administered by the Kentucky General Assembly. The plan covers substantially 
all regular full-time members employed in non-hazardous or hazardous positions of each county, 
city and school board, and any additional eligible local agencies electing to participate in the 
plan. The plan provides for retirement, disability and death benefits to plan members. 

CERS issues a publicly available financial report included in the Kentucky Retirement Systems 
Annual Report that includes financial statements and the required supplementary information for 
CERS. That report may be obtained by writing to Kentucky Retirement Systems, Perimeter Park 
West, 1260 Louisville Road, Frankfort, Kentucky, 40601, or by calling (502) 564-4646 or at 
https://kyret.ky.gov. 

Benefits provided: Benefits under the plan will vary based on final compensation, years of 
service and other factors as fully described in the plan documents. 

Contributions: Funding for CERS is provided by members who contribute 5.00% nonhazardous 
and 8.00% hazardous (6.00% and 9.00% for employees hired after September 1, 2008, 
respectively) of their salary through payroll deductions. The City's contractually required 
contribution rate for the year ended June 30, 2021 was 24.06% for nonhazardous (19.30%­
pension, 4.76%-insurance) and 39.58% for hazardous (30.06% pension, 9.52% insurance) of the 
member's salary. The contribution requirements of CERS are established and may be amended 
by the CERS Board of Trustees. Contributions to the pension plan from the City were $191,953 
and $37,265 for Nonhazardous and Hazardous for the year ended June 30, 2021. 

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to CERS 

At June 30, 2021, the City reported a liability for its proportionate share of the net pension 
liability. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2020. The total pension liability 
used to calculate the net pension liability was based on an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2019. 
An expected total pension liability as of June 30, 2020 was determined using standard roll­
forward techniques. The City's proportion of the net pension liability was based on contributions 
to CERS during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. At June 30, 2020, the City's proportion for 
nonhazardous and hazardous was 0.041103% and 0.00%, respectively. 
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For the year ended June 30, 2021, the City recognized pension expense of$566,941. At June 30, 
2021, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 
to pensions from the following sources: 

Nonhazardous 
Differences between expected and 

actual experience 
Changes of assumptions 
Net difference between projected and 

actual earnings on investments 
Changes in proportion and differences 
between City contributions and 
proportionate share of contributions 

City contributions subsequent to 
the measurement date 

Hazardous 
Differences between expected and 

actual experience 
Changes of assumptions 
Net difference between projected and 

actual earnings on investments 
Changes in proportion and differences 
between City contributions and 
proportionate share of contributions 

City contributions subsequent to 
the measurement date 

Deferred Deferred 
Outflows Inflows 

of Resources of Resources 

$ 78,615 $ 
123,102 

78,889 

129,160 

191 ,953 
$ @L'.Zl2 $ 

Deferred Deferred 
Outflows Inflows 

of Resources of Resources 

$ $ 

37.265 
$ 37.265 ,,,.,$==== 

At June 30, 2021, the City reported deferred outflows of resources for City contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date of $191,953 and $37,265 for nonhazardous and hazardous, 
respectively. These contributions will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in 
the year ended June 30, 2022. 

Deferred outflows and inflows related to differences between projected and actual earnings on 
plan investments are netted and amortized over a closed five year period. Other amounts reported 
as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions are 
amortized over the average service life of all members. These will be recognized in pension 
expense as follows: 

Year 
2022 
2023 
2024 
2025 
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Nonhazardous 
$ 206,785 

129,159 
42,140 
31.682 

$ 409,166 

Hazardous 
$ 
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Actuarial Methods and Assumptions: The total pension liability for CERS was determined by 
applying procedures to the actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2019. The financial reporting 
actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2020, used the following actuarial methods and assumptions: 

Valuation Date 
Measurement Date 
Experience Study 
Actuarial Cost Method 
Amortization Method 
Remaining Amortization Period 
Payroll growth 
Asset Valuation Method 

Inflation 
Salary Increase 
Investment Rate of Return 

June 30, 2019 
June 30, 2020 
July 1, 2013-June 30, 2018 
Entry Age Normal 
Level percentage of payroll 
30 years, closed 
2.00% 
20% of the difference between the market 
value of assets and the expected market value 
is recognized 
2.30% 
3.30% to 10.30%, varies by service 
6.25%, net of pension plan investment 
expense, including inflation 

As a result of the 2018 experience study, the salary increase assumptions, retirement rate 
assumptions, mortality assumptions, withdrawal rates, and rates of disablement were updated for 
the 2019 actuarial valuation. 

The mortality table used for active members is PUB-2010 General Mortality Table projected 
with ultimate rates from the MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using a base year of 2010. 
For healthy retired members and beneficiaries, a system-specific mortality table based on 
mortality experience from 2013-2018, projected with the ultimate rates from MP-2014 mortality 
improvement scale using a base year of 2019 is utilized. For disabled members, the mortality 
table used is the PUB-2010 Disabled Mortality table, with a 4-year set-forward for both male 
and female rates, projected with the ultimate rates from the MP-2014 mortality improvement 
scale using a base year of 2010. 

Senate Bill 249 passed during the 2020 legislative session and changed the funding period for 
the amortization of the unfunded liability to 30 years as of June 30, 2019. Gains and losses 
incurring in future years will be amortized over separate 20-year amortization bases. This 
change does not impact the calculation of the Total Pension Liability and only impacts the 
calculation of the contribution rates that would be payable starting July 1, 2020. 

The long-term expected rate of return was determined by using a building-block method in which 
best-estimate ranges of expected future real rate of returns are developed for each asset class. 
The ranges are combined by weighting the expected future real rate of return by the target asset 
allocation percentage. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return 
for each major asset class, as provided by CERS's investment consultant, are summarized in 
the following table: 

Target Long-Term Expected Real 
Asset Class Allocation Rate of Return 

Growth 62.50% 
US Equity 18.75% 4.50% 
Non-US Equity 18.75% 5.25% 
Private US Equity 10.00% 6.65% 
Specialty Credit/High Yield 15.00% 3.90% 

Liquidity 14.50% 
Core Bonds 13.50% (0.25)% 
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Cash 1.00% (0.75)% 

Diversifying Strategies 23.00% 
Real Estate 5.00% 5.30% 
Opportunistic 3.00% 2.25% 
Real Return 15.00% 3.95% 

Total 100.00% 3.96% 

Discount Rate: The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.25%. The 
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from 
plan members and employers will be made at statutory contribution rates. Projected inflows from 
investment earnings were calculated using the long-term assumed investment return of 6.25%. 
The long-term assumed investment rate of return was applied to all periods of projected benefit 
payments to determine the total pension liability. 

Sensitivity of the City's proportionate share of the net pension liability to changes in the discount 
rate: The following presents the City's proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated 
using the discount rate of 6.25%, as well as what the City's proportionate share of the net pension 
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is I-percentage-point lower 
(5.25%) or I-percentage-point higher (7.25%) than the current rate: 

1% Current 1% 
Decrease discount rate Increase 
(5.25%) (6.25%) (7.25%) 

City's proportionate share of the 
net pension liability 
Nonhazardous $ 3,887,800 $ 3,152,566 $ 2,543,764 
Hazardous $ $ $ 

Pension plan fiduciary net position: Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net 
position is available in the separately issued CERS financial report which is publicly available 
at https://kyret.ky .gov. 

Payables to the pension plan: At June 30, 2021, there was a payable to the CERS Pension Plan 
of $24,636 for nonhazardous and hazardous combined. 

(10) OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT ("OPEB") PLANS 

County Employees Retirement System 

The City Council voted on October 20, 2020 to begin covering police and fire department full­
time employees/positions as hazardous rather than nonhazardous. The change went into effect 
on January 1, 2021. 

Plan description: The County Employees Retirement System ("CERS") Insurance Fund was 
established to provide post-employment healthcare benefits to eligible members and dependents. 
This system consists of two plans - Nonhazardous and Hazardous. Each Insurance Fund is a 
cost-sharing, multiple employer defined benefit plan administered by the Kentucky Retirement 
Systems' (KRS) board of trustees. 

CERS issues a publicly available financial report included in the Kentucky Retirement Systems 
Annual Report that includes financial statements and the required supplementary information for 
CERS. That report may be obtained by writing to Kentucky Retirement Systems, Perimeter Park 
West, 1260 Louisville Road, Frankfort, Kentucky, 40601, or by calling (502) 564-4646 or at 
https://kyret.ky.gov. 
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Benefits provided: CERS health insurance benefits are subject to various participation dates to 
determine eligibility and health insurance contribution rates. For employees who initiated 
participation in the CERS system prior to July 1, 2003, KRS pays a percentage of the monthly 
contribution rate for insurance coverage based on the retired member's years of service and type 
of service. Non-hazardous members receive a contribution subsidy for only the member's health 
insurance premium. Hazardous members receive a contribution subsidy for both the member 
and dependent coverage. 

Percentage of contribution ranges from 0% for less than 4 years of service to 100% for 20 years 
or more of service. For members who initiated participation in the CERS system after July 1, 
2003 until August 31, 2008, members must have 120 months of service in a state-administered 
retirement system to qualify for participation in the KRS health plans. Members who began 
participating with KRS on or after September 1, 2008, must have 180 months of service upon 
retirement to participate in the KRS health plans. Non-hazardous retirees receive $10 toward the 
monthly premium for each full year of service. 

Hazardous retirees receive $15 toward the monthly premium and the hazardous retiree's spouse 
may also receive this contribution upon the retiree's death. The monthly insurance benefit has 
been increased annually by a Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA) since July 2004. 

Contributions: CERS allocates a portion of the employer contributions to the health insurance 
benefit plans. For the year ending June 30, 2021, CERS allocated 4.76% of the 24.06% 
nonhazardous and 9.52% of the 39.58% hazardous actuarially required contribution rate paid by 
employers for funding the healthcare benefit. In addition, 1.00% of the contributions by 
employees hired after September 1, 2008 are allocated to the health insurance plan. During the 
year ending June 30, 2021, the City contributed $47,342 and $11,802 to the CERS Nonhazardous 
and Hazardous Insurance Fund. The contribution requirements of CERS are established and may 
be amended by the CERS Board of Trustees. 

Implicit Subsidy: The fully-insured premiums KRS pays for the Kentucky Employees' Health 
Plan are blended rates based on the combined experience of active and retired members. Because 
the average cost of providing health care benefits to retirees under age 65 is higher than the 
average cost of providing health care benefits to active employees, there is an implicit employer 
subsidy for the non-Medicare eligible retirees. This implicit subsidy is included in the calculation 
of the total OPEB liability. 

OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to CERS Insurance Fund 

At June 30, 2021, the City reported a liability its proportionate share of the net OPEB liability. 
The net OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2020. The total OPEB liability used to 
calculate the net OPEB liability was based on an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2019. An 
expected total pension liability as of June 30, 2020 was determined using standard roll­
forward techniques. City's proportion of the net OPEB liability was based on contributions to 
CERS during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. At June 30 2020, the City's proportion for 
nonhazardous and hazardous was 0.041094% and 0.00%, respectively 

For the year ended June 30, 2021, the City recognized OPEB expense of $147,773, including 
an implicit subsidy of $20,651. At June 30, 2021, the City reported deferred outflows of 
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEBs from the following sources: 
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Nonhazardous 
Differences between expected and 

actual experience 
Changes of assumptions 
Net difference between projected and 

actual earnings on investments 
Changes in proportion and differences 
between City contributions and 
proportionate share of contributions 

City contributions subsequent to 
the measurement date 

Hazardous 
Differences between expected and 
actual experience 

Changes of assumptions 
Net difference between projected and 

actual earnings on investments 
Changes in proportion and differences 
between City contributions and 
proportionate share of contributions 

City contributions subsequent to 
the measurement date 

Deferred 
Outflows 

of Resources 

$ 165,792 
172,601 

32,981 

54,196 

47.342 
$ 472.912 

Deferred 
Outflows 

of Resources 

$ 

Deferred 
Inflows 

of Resources 

$ 165,921 
1,050 

724 

$ 167,695 

Deferred 
Inflows 

of Resources 

$ 

$ 

At June 30, 2021, the City reported deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB for City 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date of $47,342 and $11,802 for nonhazardous 
and hazardous, respectively. These contributions will be recognized as a reduction of the net 
OPEB liability in the year ended June 30, 2022. 

Deferred outflows and inflows related to differences between projected and actual earnings 
on plan investments are netted and amortized over a closed five year period. Other amounts 
reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions are amortized over the average service life of all members. These will be recognized 
in OPEB expense as follows: 

Year 
2022 
2023 
2024 
2025 
2026 

Nonhazardous 
$ 67,777 

77,537 
58,809 
54,361 

(609) 
$ 257,875 

Hazardous 
$ 

$ 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions: The total OPEB liability in the June 30, 2020 actuarial 
valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods 
included in the measurement: 
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Valuation Date 
Measurement Date 
Experience Study 
Actuarial Cost Method 
Amortization Method 
Remaining Amortization Period 
Payroll Growth Rate 
Asset Valuation Method 

Inflation 
Salary Increase 
Investment Rate of Return 
Healthcare Trend Rates 
Pre-65 

Post-65 

Mortality 
Pre-retirement 

Pre-retirement (non-disabled) 

Post-retirement ( disabled) 

June 30, 2019 
June 30, 2020 
July 1, 2013 - June 30, 2018 
Entry Age Normal 
Level Percent of Pay 
24 Years, Closed 
2.00% 
20% of the difference between the market value 
of assets and the expected actuarial value of 
assets is recognized 

2.30% 
3.30% to 10.30%, varies by service 
6.25% 

Initial trend starting at 6.40% at January 1, 2022 
and gradually decreasing to an ultimate trend 
rate of 4.05% over a period of 14years. 

Initial trend starting at 2.90% at January 1, 2022, 
and increasing to 6.30% in 2023 gradually 
gradually decreasing to an ultimate trend 
rate of 4.05% over a period of 14 years. 

PUB-2010 General Mortality table, for the 
Non-Hazardous Systems, and the PUB-2010 
Public Safety Mortality table for the Hazardous 
Systems, projected with the ultimate rates from 
the MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using 
a base year of 2010 
System-specific mortality table based on 
mortality experience from 2013-2018, projected 
with the ultimate rates from MP-2014 mortality 
improvement scale using a base year of 2019 
PUB-2010 Disabled Mortality table, with a 
4-year set forward for both male and female 
rates, projected with the ultimate rates from the 
MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using a 
base year of 2010 

As a result of the 2018 experience study, the salary increase assumptions, retirement rate 
assumptions, mortality assumptions, withdrawal rates, and rates of disablement were updated 
for the 2019 actuarial valuation. 

Senate Bill 249 passed during the 2020 legislative session and changed the funding period for 
the amortization of the unfunded liability to 30 years as of June 30, 2019. Gains and losses 
incurring in future years will be amortized over separate 20-year amortization bases. This 
change does not impact the calculation of the Total Pension Liability and only impacts the 
calculation of the contribution rates that would be payable starting July 1, 2020. 

The assumed increase in future health care costs, or trend assumption, was reviewed during 
the June 30, 2019 valuation process and was updated to better reflect more current expectations 
relating to anticipated future increases in the medical costs. The anticipated savings from the 
repeal of the "Cadillac Tax" and "Health Insurer Fee", which occurred in December 2019 are 
reflected in the June 30, 2020 GASB 75 actuarial information. The assumed load on pre­
Medicare premiums to reflect the cost of the Cadillac Tax was removed and the Medicare 
premiums were reduced by 11 % to reflect the repeal of the Health Insurer Fee. 
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The long-term expected rate of return was determined by using a building-block method in 
which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rate of returns are developed for each asset 
class. The ranges are combined by weighting the expected future real rate of return by the 
target asset allocation percentage. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real 
rates ofreturn for each major asset class, as provided by CERS's investment consultant, are 
summarized in the following table: 

Target Long-Term Expected Real 
Asset Class Allocation Rate of Return 

Growth 62.50% 
US Equity 18.75% 4.50% 
Non-US Equity 18.75% 5.25% 
Private US Equity 10.00% 6.65% 
Specialty Credit/High Yield 15.00% 3.90% 

Liquidity 14.50% 
Core Bonds 13.50% (0.25)% 
Cash 1.00% (0.75)% 

Diversifying Strategies 23.00% 
Real Estate 5.00% 5.30% 
Opportunistic 3.00% 2.25% 
Real Return 15.00% 3.95% 

Total 100.00% 3.96% 

Discount rate - The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 5.68%. The 
discount rate determination used an expected rate of return of 6.25%, and a municipal bond rate 
of3.13%, as reported in Fidelity Index's "20-Year Municipal GO AA Index" as ofJune 28, 2019. 
However, the cost associated with the implicit employer subsidy was not included in the 
calculation of the KRS' actuarial determined contributions, and any cost associated with the 
implicit subsidy will not be paid out of the KRS' trusts. Therefore, the municipal bond rate was 
applied to future expected benefit payments associated with the implicit subsidy. 

The following table presents the City's proportionate share of the collective net OPEB liability 
of the Nonhazardous CERS Insurance Fund, calculated using the discount rate of 5.34%, as 
well as what the City's proportionate share of the collective net OPEB liability would be if it 
were calculated using a discount rate that is I-percentage-point lower ( 4.34%) or 1-percentage­
point higher (6.34%) than the current rate: 

1% Current 1% 
Decrease discount rate Increase 
(4.34%) (5.34%) (6.34%) 

City's proportionate share of the 
net OPEB liability 

Nonhazardous $ 1,274,808 $ 992,295 $ 760,258 

The following table presents the City's proportionate share of the collective net OPEB liability of the 
Hazardous CERS Insurance Fund, calculated using the discount rate of 5.30%, as well as what the 
City's proportionate share of the collective net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a 
discount rate that is I-percentage-point lower (4.30%) or I-percentage-point higher (6.30%) than the 
current rate: 
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City's proportionate share of the 
net OPEB liability 

Hazardous $ 

1% 
Decrease 
(4.30%) 

$ 

Current 
discount rate 

(5.30%) 

$ 

1% 
Increase 
(6.30%) 

Sensitivity of the City's proportionate share of the collective net OP EB liability to changes in 
the healthcare cost trend rates: The following presents the City's proportionate share of the 
collective net OPEB liability, as well as what the City's proportionate share of the collective 
net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that were I -
percentage-point lower or I-percentage-point higher than the current healthcare cost trend 
rates: 

1% Current 1% 
Decrease trend rate Increase 

City's proportionate share of the 
net OPEB liability 

Nonhazardous $ 768,284 $ 992,295 $ 1,264,137 
Hazardous $ $ $ 

OPEB plan fiduciary net position: Detailed information about the OPEB plan's fiduciary net 
position is available in the separately issued CERS financial report which is publicly available at 
https:/ /kyret.ky .gov. 

Payables to the OPEB plan: At June 30, 2021, there was a payable to the CERS OPEB Plan of 
$7,459 for nonhazardous and hazardous combined. 

(11) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

During the year ended June 30, 2022 the City spent roughly $153,000 on renovations and 
additions to the building purchased for the police department. 

In 2023 the City was awarded a FEMA grant for roughly $245,000 to purchase air bags for the 
fire department. 

On February 6, 2024 the City entered into a 2024 Tax and Revenue Anticipation Note with an 
interest rate of 4.95% with The Commercial Bank of Grayson to help pay for expenses in the 
amount of roughly $450,000. The loan matured on June 30, 2024. The loan has been renewed 
annually with the most recent renewal having an interest rate of 4.95% and maturing on June 
30, 2026. 

On January 29, 2025, the City entered into an agreement with The Commercial Bank of Grayson 
in the amount of 236,771 with an interest rate of 4.95% to finance the cost of the acquisition and 
equipping of police cruisers. The maturity date is January 28, 2031. 

On January 30, 2025, the City entered into a Master Equipment Lease Purchase Agreement with 
GM Financial in the amount of $51,115 with an interest rate of 7.309% for a 2025 Chevrolet 
Silverado 2500 to be used by the Fire Department. 

On July 11, 2025, the City leased two Bobcats in the amount of $35,961 payable over 48 
months. 

On October 30, 2025, the City entered into a lease agreement with The Commercial Bank of 
Grayson for $20,000 to finance the costs of acquiring and equipping two trucks. This is payable 
over 3 years with an interest rate of7.0% and matures on October 30, 2028. 
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(12) INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS 

Interfund Receivable and Payables 

During the course of operations, numerous transactions occur between individual funds that may 
result in amounts owed between funds. Interfund receivables and payables between funds are 
eliminated in the Statement of Net Position. The composition of interfund balances as of June 
30, 2021 is as follows: 

Receivable Fund 
General Fund 

Interfund Transfers 

Payable Fund 
Utility Fund 

The following interfund transfers were made during the year: 

Type 
Operating 

From Fund 
General 

To Fund Purpose 
Utility Fund Operations 
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$ 34,274 

Amount 
$ 47,592 
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CITY OF OLIVE HILL, KENTUCKY 
COUNTY EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

SCHEDULE OF CITY'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION AND OPED LIABILITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 

Reporting Fiscal Year Reporting Fiscal Year 
(Measurement Date) (Measurement Date) 

2021 2020 

20201 019 

Nonho<!ardous Hazardous Nonhadanlous Hazardous 
COUNTY EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM· PENSION: 

City's proportion oflhc od pension liobility 

City's proportiomtc sh:ltc of tho net pension liability s 

City's covcrcd-cmp~oo payroll $ 

City's proportionate shai., of tho nd poosion liability 

os • po<ocnlaG" or its covcnxkmployco payroll 

Plan fiduciary net position as a pcrcadagC of the total 
pension liabilily 

COUNTY EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM. OPED: 
City~ proportion of die net pau;ion liability 

City's proportionate slum: of the na. pension liability $ 

City's co\'Cl"Od-anploycc payroll $ 

Ciry's proportie11.1tc share of the: nc1 pension IW)ifity 
,s a percentage of its covcn:d-cmploycc payroll 

Pian fiduciaiy net position as a. percentage of the total 
pension liability 

Note: Schedule is intcnckd to sOO\v information for lhc last 10 fiscal years, 
Additional ycan will be displayo:l as they become available. 

Note: The City cnn:n:d d,o hozardoiu portion of tho plan clfcctive Ianwuy I, 2021. 

0.041103% 

3,152,566 

1,050,684 

300.049% 

47.81% 

0.041094% 

992,295 

1,050,684 

94.443% 

51.67% 

0.00% 0.039809% 0.00% 

$ $ 2,799,785 $ 

s s 1,009,112 s 

0.00% 277.450% 0.00% 

44.11% 50.450"/4 46.63% 

0.00% 0.039799% 0.00% 

$ $ 669,40t s 

s $ 1,009,112 $ 

0.00% 66.336% 0.00% 

58.84% 60.440% 64.44% 
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Reporting Fiscal Y car 
(Measurement Date) 

2019 

2011 

Nonhadardous Hazardous 

0.037255% 0.00%, 

$ 2,268,943 s 

$ 933,094 $ 

243.163% 0.00% 

53.540% 49.26%: 

0.037274% 0.00% 

$ 661,792 $ 

$ 933,094 $ 

70.924% 0.00% 

57.600% 64.24% 

I l 

Reporting Fiscal Year 
!Measurement Date) 

2018 

!2017 

Nonhadardous Hazardous 

0.035949% 0.00% 

s 2,104,205 s 

$ 920,215 $ 

228.664% 0.00% 

53.300% 49.80"/4 

0.035949% 0.00% 

$ 722,698 $ 

$ 920,215 $ 

78.536% 0.00% 

52.400% 59.00% 



CITY OF OLIVE HILL, KENTUCKY 
COUNTY EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

SCHEDULE OF CITY'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION AND OPEB LIABILITY (CONCLUDED) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 

Reporting Fiscal Year 
(Measurement Date) 

2017 

(2016) 

Reporting Fiscal Year 
(Measurement Date) 

2016 
(2015) 

l 

Reporting Fiscal Year 
(Measurement Date) 

2015 
(2014) 

} 

Nonhadardous Hazardous Nonhadardous Hazardous Nonhadardous Hazardous 
COUNTY EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM -PENSION: 

City's proportion of the net pension liability 

City's proportionate share of the net pension liability 

City's covered-employee payroll 

City's proportionate share of the net pension liability 
as a percentage of its covered-employee payroll 

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total 
pension liability 

$ 

$ 

Note: Schedule is intended to show information for the last IO fiscal years. 
Additional years will be displayed as they become available. 

Note: The City entered the hazardous portion of the plan effective January 1, 2021. 

0.037070% 

1,825,263 

914,622 

199.565% 

55.500% 

0.00% 

$ $ 

$ $ 

0.00% 

53.95% 
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0.035392% 0.00% 0.036007% 0.00% 

1,521,681 $ $ 1,168,000 $ 

860,170 $ $ 826,!02 $ 

176.905% 0.00% 141.387% 0.00% 

59.970% 57.52% 66.800% 63.46% 

J l 



CITY OF OLIVE HILL, KENTUCKY 
COUNTY EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

SCHEDULE OF PENSION AND OPED CONTRIBUTIONS 

2021 

Nonhazardous 
COUNTY EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM· PENSION: 
Contractually required contribution $ 

Contributions in relation to die contractually 
n:quired contribution 

Contribution deficiency (excess) 

City's covered..:inployee payroll $ 

City's proportionate share of pension contributions 
as a percentage of its covered..:inp\oyee payroll 

COUNTY EMPLOVl!ES RETIREMENT SVSTl!M. PENSION: 

Contrac1ually n:quired contribution $ 

Contributions in relation to lhc contractually 
required contribution 

Contribution deficiency (excess) 

City's covered-employee payroll s 

City's proportionate share of pension contributions 
as a percentage of its covered..:inployee payroll 

Note: Schedule is intended to show infomlation for the last IO fiscal years. 
Additional years will be displayed as they become available. 

191,953 

191.953 

994,575 

19.30% 

47,342 

47 342 

994,575 

4.76% 

Note: The City entered the hazardous portion of the plan effective January I, 2021 . 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 1021 

2020 2019 

Hazardous Nonhazardous Ha:r.ardous Nonhazardous 

$ 37,265 $ 202,782 $ $ 163,678 

37J65 202,782 __ 163.678 

$ 123,969 $ 1,050,684 $ $ 1,009,112 

30.06% 19.30% 0.00% 16.22% 

11,802 $ 50,013 $ s 53,085 

11 802 50013 53,085 

$ 123,969 S 1,050,684 $ $ 1,009,112 

9.52% 4.76% 0.00% 5.26% 
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2018 2017 
Hazardous Nonhazardous Hazardous Nonhazardous Hazardous 

$ $ 135,112 $ $ 128,370 $ 

________115_, 11 2 128,370 

$ $ 933,094 s $ 920,215 s 

0.00% 14.48% 0.00% 13.95% 0.00% 

$ $ 43,844 $ $ 43,523 $ 

43,844 _ __ 4_3.523 

$ $ 933,094 $ $ 920,21 S $ 

0.00% 4.70% 0.00% 4.73% 0.00% 



CITY OF OLIVE HILL, KENTUCKY 
COUNTY EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

SCHEDULE OF PENSION AND OPEB CONTRIBUTIONS (CONCLUDED) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 

2016 2015 

J 

2014 
Nonhazardous Hazardous Nonhazardous Haz,ardous Nonhazardous Haz,ardous 

COUNTY EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM - PENSION: 

Contractually required contribution 

Contributions in relation to the contractually 
required contribution 

Contribution deficiency (excess) 

City's covered-employee payroll 

City's proportionate share of pension contributions 
as a percentage of its covered-employee payroll 

$ 113,596 $ 

113,596 

$ 914,622 $ 

12.42% 

Note: Schedule is intended to show infonnation for the last 10 fiscal years. 
Additional years will be displayed as they become available. 

Note: The City entered the haz,ardous portion of the plan effective January I, 2021. 
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$ 109,672 $ $ 113,506 $ 

1091672 I 13,506 

$ 860,170 $ $ 826,102 $ 

0.00% 12.75% 0.00% 13.74% 0.00% 

J 



(1) 

CITY OF OLIVE IDLL, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 

CHANGES OF ASSUMPTIONS 

CERS - PENSION 

The following changes were made by the Kentucky Legislature and reflected in the valuation performed as 
of June 30, 2015: 

• The assumed investment rate ofreturn was decreased from 7.75% to 7.50%. 
• The assumed rate of inflation was reduced from 3.50% to 3.25%. 
• The assumed rate of wage inflation was reduced from 1.00% to 0.75%. 
• Payroll growth assumption was reduced from 4.50% to 4.00%. 
• The mortality table used for active members is RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table projected with 

Scale BB to 2013 (multiplied by 50% for males and 30% for females). 
• For healthy retired members and beneficiaries, the mortality table used is the RP-2000 Combined 

Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 2013 (set back 1 year for females). For disabled 
members, the RP-2000 Combined Disabled Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 2013 (set 
back 4 years for males) is used for the period after disability retirement. 

• The assumed rates of Retirement, Withdrawal and Disability were updated to more accurately reflect 
experience. 

The following changes were made by the Kentucky Legislature and reflected in the valuation performed as 
of June 30, 2017: 

• Decreased the price inflation assumption to 2.30%. 
• Decreased the assumed rate of return to 6.25%. 
• Decreased the payroll growth assumption to 2.00%. 

The following changes were made by the Board of Trustees and reflected in the valuation performed as of 
June 30, 2019: 

• The assumed salary increase was changed from 4.00% (average) to 3 .30%-10.30% for nonhazardous 
and 3.55o/o-19.05% for hazardous (varies by service). 

• The mortality table used for pre-retirement is PUB-2010 General Mortality table, for the Non­
Hazardous Systems, and PUB-2010 Public Safety Mortality table for the Hazardous Systems, 
projected with the ultimate rates from the MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using a base year 
of 2010. 

• The mortality table used for post-retirement (non-disabled) is a system specific mortality table based 
on mortality experience from 2013-2018, projected with the ultimate rates from MP-2014 mortality 
improvement scale using a base year of 2019. 

• The mortality table used for post-retirement (disabled) is PUB-2010 Disabled Mortality table, with 
a 4-year set-forward for both male and female rates, projected with the ultimate rates from MP-2014 
mortality improvement scale using a base year of 2010. 

CERS - Insurance Fund 

The following changes were made by the Kentucky Legislature and reflected in the valuation performed as 
of June 30, 2017: 

• Decreased the price inflation assumption to 2.30%. 
• Decreased the assumed rate of return to 6.25%. 
• Decreased the payroll growth assumption to 2.00%. 
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The following changes were made by the Board of Trustees and reflected in the valuation performed as of 
June 30, 2019: 

• The assumed salary increase was changed from 4.00% (average) to 3.30%-10.30% for nonhazardous 
and 3.55%-19.05% for hazardous (varies by service). 

• The mortality table used for pre-retirement is PUB-2010 General Mortality table, for the Non­
Hazardous Systems, and PUB-2010 Public Safety Mortality table for the Hazardous Systems, 
projected with the ultimate rates from the MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using a base year 
of 2010. 

• The mortality table used for post-retirement (non-disabled) is a system specific mortality table based 
on mortality experience from 2013-2018, projected with the ultimate rates from MP-2014 mortality 
improvement scale using a base year of 2019. 

• The mortality table used for post-retirement (disabled) is PUB-2010 Disabled Mortality table, with 
a 4-year set-forward for both male and female rates, projected with the ultimate rates from MP-2014 
mortality improvement scale using a base year of 2010. 

For the June 30, 2020 measurement date, the assumed increase in future health care costs, or trend 
assumption, is reviewed on an annual basis and was updated to better reflect more current expectations 
relating to anticipated future increases in the medical costs. The assumed impact of the Cadillac Tax 
(previously a 0.9% load on employer paid non-Medicare premiums for those who became participants prior 
to July 1, 2003) was removed to reflect its repeal since the prior valuation. 

(2) METHOD AND ASSUMPTIONS USED IN CALCULATIONS OF ACTUARIALLY 
DETERMINED CONTRIBUTIONS 

CERS - PENSION 

The actuarially determined contribution rates are determined on a biennial basis beginning with the fiscal year 
ended 2018, determined as of July 1, 2017. The amortization period of the unfunded liability has been reset as 
of July I, 2013 to a closed 30-year period. The following actuarial methods and assumptions were used to 
determine contribution rates for the year ending June 30, 2020: 

Experience Study 
Actuarial Cost Method 
Amortization Method 
Remaining Amortization Period 
Payroll growth 
Asset Valuation Method 

Inflation 
Salary Increase 

Investment Rate of Return 

Mortality 

Phase-In Provision 

CERS - Insurance Fund 

July 1, 2013-June 30, 2018 
Entry Age Normal 
Level percentage of payroll 
25 years, closed 
2.00% 
20% of the difference between the market value of assets and 
the expected actuarial value of assets is recognized 
2.30% 
3.30% to 11.55% (nonhazardous) and 3.05$ to 18.55% 
(hazardous), varies by service 

6.25%, net of pension plan investment expense, including 
inflation 

RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table, projected to 2013 with 
Scale BB (set back 1 year for females) 

Board certified rate is phased into the actuarially determined rate 
in accordance with HB 362 enacted in 2018. 

The following actuarial methods and assumptions, for actuarially determined contributions effective for fiscal 
year ending June 30, 2020: 

Experience Study 
Actuarial Cost Method 
Amortization Method 

July 1, 2008 - June 30, 2013 
Entry Age Normal 
Level Percent of Pay 
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Remaining Amortization Period 
Payroll Growth Rate 
Asset Valuation Method 

Inflation 
Salary Increase 

Investment Rate of Return 
Healthcare Trend Rates 

Pre-65 

Post-65 

Mortality 

Phase-in Provision 

(3) CHANGES OF BENEFITS 

CERS - PENSION 

25 Years, Closed 
2.00% 
20% of the difference between the market value of 
assets and the expected actuarial value of assets is 
recognized 
2.30% 
3.30% to 11.55% (nonhazardous) and 3.05% to 18.55% 
(hazardous), varies by service 
6.25% 

Initial trend starting at 7.00% at January 1, 2020 and gradually 
decreasing to an ultimate trend rate of 4.05% over a period of 
12 years. 
Initial trend starting at 5.00% at January 1, 2019 and gradually 
decreasing to an ultimate trend rate of 4.05% over a period of 
10 years. 
RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table, projected to 2013 with 
Scale BB (set back 1 year for females). 
Board certified rate is phased into the actuarially determined 
rate in accordance with HB 362 enacted in 2018. 

During the 2018 legislative session, House Bill 185 was enacted, which updated the benefit provisions for 
active members who die in the line of duty. Benefits paid to the spouses of deceased members have been 
increased from 25% of the member's final rate of pay to 75% of the member's average pay. If the member 
does not have a surviving spouse, benefits paid to surviving dependent children have been increased from 10% 
of the member's final pay rate to 50% of average pay for one child, 65% of average pay for two children, or 
75% of average pay for three children. The Total Pension Liability as of June 30, 2019 is determined using 
these updated benefit provisions. 

CERS - Insurance Fund 

During the 2018 legislative session, House Bill 185 was enacted, which updated the benefit provisions for 
active members who die in the line of duty. The system shall now pay 100% of the insurance premium for 
spouses and children of all active members who die in the line of duty. The total OPEB liability as of June 30, 
2019, is determined using these updated benefit provisions. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL 
CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE 

AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

The Honorable Mayor and 
City Council 
City of Olive Hill 
Olive Hill, Kentucky 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business­
type activities, and each major fund of the City of Olive Hill, Kentucky (the "City"), as of and for the year 
ended June 30, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City's 
basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated December 5, 2025. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City's internal control over 
financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances 
for the pwpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City's internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial 
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A sign.ificant deficiency is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section 
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. We did 
identify certain deficiencies in internal control, described in the accompanying Schedule of Findings and 
Responses as items 2021-001 and 2021-002 that we consider to be material weaknesses. 

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City's financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and 
grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of 

Cincinnati, 0 H 



r objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no 
instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards. 

City's Responses to Findings 

The City's responses to the findings identified in our audit is described in the accompanying Schedule of 
- Findings and Responses. The City's responses were not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 

audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on them. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and 
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control or on 
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not 
suitable for any other purpose. 

K,JtM}J~ ~YJ~,Psc 
Ashl~~]'entucky 
December 5, 2025 

-46 -



CITY OF OLIVE HILL, KENTUCKY 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND RESPONSES 

JUNE 30, 2021 

CASH RECONCILIATIONS (Finding 2021-001) 

Condition: When we began our audit procedures it was brought to our attention that the City's bank accounts 
had not been properly reconciled and agreed to the general ledger for the 2021 fiscal year until December 2024. 
It was also brought to our attention that many electronic transactions (both deposits and disbursements) were 
not being recorded at all since these transactions do not automatically post to the general ledger software. 

Criteria: Bank accounts should be reconciled and agreed to the general ledger monthly. Electronic transactions 
should be recorded at the same time that the transaction occurs. 

Effect: By not reconciling the bank accounts and recording electronic payments, there is a decrease in controls 
over cash that could result in an unauthorized use of the funds. Furthermore, if there are outages, it is more 
difficult to clear them as more time passes. 

Recommendation: We recommend that bank accounts are reconciled and agreed to the general ledger monthly. 
We also recommend that all electronic transactions are recorded as they occur. 

Management's Response and Corrective Action: Management acknowledges the finding. Once it was 
discovered that bank reconciliations had not been completed, the new City Clerk and staff immediately brought 
all outstanding reconciliations up to date. All prior months have now been fully reconciled. Going forward, all 
bank accounts will be reconciled on a monthly basis and agreed to the general ledger no later than the 25th of 
the following month. All electronic transactions--including ACH deposits, ACH withdrawals, automatic 
payments, and other electronic activity-will be recorded in the general ledger as they occur or, at minimum, 
during weekly transaction entry procedures. These reconciliations are now current and will continue to be part 
of our ongoing monthly closing process, completed timely each month. 

ACCOUNT RECONCILIATIONS (Finding 2021-002) 

Condition: During our audit procedures, it was noted that several general ledger asset and liability accounts 
had to be adjusted due to the accounts not being reconciled. The accounts included, but were not limited to, 
accounts receivable, due to other fund, due from other fund, accrued payroll liabilities, fixed assets, and debt. 

Criteria: All general ledger asset and liability accounts should be reconciled and agreed to the general ledger 
on at least an annual basis. 

Effect: By not reconciling the general ledger asset and liability accounts there is a decrease in controls over 
these accounts that could result in an unauthorized use or misappropriation of the City's assets or a significant 
understatement of the City's liabilities. Furthermore, if there are outages, it is more difficult to clear them as 
more time passes. 

Recommendation: We recommend that general ledger asset and liability accounts are reconciled and agreed to 
the general ledger on at least an annual basis. 

Management's Response and Corrective Action: Management agrees with this finding. All general ledger 
asset and liability accounts will be fully reconciled on an annual basis and agreed to the general ledger as part 
of the year-end closing procedures. This includes accounts such as accounts receivable, due to/from other 
funds, payroll liabilities, fixed assets, and debt balances to ensure accuracy. Staff will complete reconciliation 
training and will use standardized reconciliation forms developed for this purpose. Any adjustments identified 
during the annual reconciliation process will be reviewed and approved prior to finalizing the City's year-end 
financial statements. These steps will support improved accuracy and readiness for the City's bi-annual audit 
cycle. 
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